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Management Summary

During the spring of 2001 a cultural resource survey and evaluation was conducted within Pfeiffer Big Sur State Park.  The project area is located along California State Highway One, approximately 30 miles to the south of Carmel, California (a vicinity inset is shown on the large Cultural Resources Map in the appendices).  The intent of this study was to provide an inventory and analysis of all the historic and prehistoric resources within the primary recreational use area.  Of particular interest were the Civilian Conservation Corp features.  The project was to address impacts associated with the proposed Entry and Day Use Redevelopment Project, the General Plan Lodge Proposal, the Construction of Replacement Campground/Alternative Facilities Project proposal, the Campground Rehabilitation Project proposal, and any future project(s) that may be considered.  Impacts to cultural resources from the proposed projects may be significant through the use of heavy equipment, ground disturbing activities and the removal or modification of historic fabric or by changing the historic uses of the landscape.

The cultural resource investigations entailed intensive pre-field research and field survey.  The research reviewed known Department of Parks and Recreation resource files, maps and other historical documents related to this area; prior surveys within the park were reviewed and knowledgeable Parks staff were consulted. Fieldwork was conducted between February 27th and May 30th 2001.  A previous area survey was done for the Cultural Resources Inventory (Davis et. al. 1990).  A scanned and searchable copy of the Inventory has been included in the appendices.


Two hundred and forty eight sites/features were identified, recorded and assessed within the project area.  A Historic Designed Cultural Landscape was identified and delineated (see the Cultural Landscape Map in the appendices).  Recommendations for the preservation of the Landscape and the contributing cultural resources within it and suggestions for further cultural resource studies are included.  Preparation of this Cultural Resource Management Plan was developed as partial fulfillment of the goals in the Pfeiffer Big Sur State Park General Plan (DPR 1999).


The various appendices have been included on two attached read-only compact discs.  The GIS and GPS map files and their feature data table have been included on the discs and either ArcView or ArcInfo software can be used to further manipulate the data.  The free data viewer program ArcExplorer can also be downloaded from the ESRI.com website to view but not manipulate the plotted maps.  The original copy of this report, field notes, photographic records, and other documentation is on file at the Northern Service Center in Sacramento, CA.  No artifacts were collected as a part of this project.
Project Description and Methodology

The purpose of this project at Pfeiffer Big Sur State Park is to develop a complete inventory of cultural features within the core area of the park.  The completed report will establish guidelines and recommendations for managing all cultural resources within the core area of the park. The important recommendation section in this report identifies specific methods for preserving and protecting the significant features of the Pfeiffer Big Sur State Park Cultural Landscape. The study includes guidelines and recommendations for the use of most of the historic buildings within the study area.  The study also identifies the location and the significance of the cultural resources located throughout the State Park. The concession Lodge building and cabin complex were not recorded or evaluated as a part of this project. Most of the Lodge cabins are of recent construction, although historic fabric remains on the back of some cabins and in the nearby concrete curbing.  The schedule and budget did not allow for the preparation of a Historic Structure Report (HSR) on the Lodge itself, but an HSR should be completed prior to any planned modifications to the building, its surroundings or any of the buildings in the cabin complex area.

As a part of this project Historic Structure Site Record DPR 523 forms were completed (see the appendices) for all the buildings identified for adaptive reuse in the Entrance and Day Use Redevelopment Project (i.e. Warden's Residence, River Room and Jr. Ranger Building).  All other known sites or features not previously recorded were recorded in the field.  The CCC-era structures and facilities, as well as other pre-State Park-era buildings and features all fall within the scope of the Cultural Area Management Plan. Many of the structures and objects have been used through time in the manner that was intended by their designers.  This continuity of integrity and function contributes to the sense of place and the Park Rustic aesthetic that defines the Civilian Conservation Corps projects from this time period.  The CCC features within Pfeiffer Big Sur contribute to the overall history of California State Parks and to the history and origins of Pfeiffer Big Sur State Park itself. 

Natural Setting


Pfeiffer Big Sur State Park lies within the Southern Coast Range geomorphic province at the western base of the Santa Lucia Mountains. Pfeiffer Big Sur State Park is located along the Big Sur River about 5 miles upstream from the river mouth. Elevations in the park range from 200 feet along the lower Big Sur River to approximately 1320 feet on the ridge, south of the Big Sur River gorge (Davis et. al. 1990).  Along the course of the Big Sur River, elevations range from sea level at the mouth to approximately 5000 feet in the upper watershed. Ten plant communities have been identified in the park. Cottonwood-sycamore forest, riparian scrub, and riparian forest occupy the valley floor. On the slopes forming the sides of the valley are coastal scrub, mixed chaparral, chamise chaparral, non‑native grassland, coast live oak forest and tan oak forest (Davis et. al. 1990).

Pfeiffer Big Sur is located along two fault zones, the Big Sur and Serra Hill fault zones. The age of the faults is not certain.  The fault breccia formed from Franciscan Assemblage rocks indicate that movement was occurring as early as late Cretaceous.  The Pleistocene terrace and bench deposits are not cut by the faults, indicating movement had stopped by early Pleistocene time.  No historic earthquakes have been recorded on the Big Sur and Serra Hill faults.  However, the Sur-Nacimiento fault zone is classified as active, therefore the Big Sur and Serra Hill faults are also considered active.  According to California Division of Mines & Geology (Considine 2001), the Sur-Nacimiento section of the San Gregorio-Hosgri Fault Zone, which the Big Sur and Serra Hill faults are part of, is capable of generating an earthquake with a maximum moment magnitude of 7.0.  The expected peak ground acceleration may range from 0.2g to 0.4g (Considine 2001).

Shallow landslides called debris flows or mudflows have occurred in Pfeiffer Big Sur State Park for thousands of years, as indicated by mudflow deposits in the river terraces along the lower reach of Pfeiffer-Redwood Creek (Considine 2001).  Two recorded events occurred in 1908-1910 and in 1972-73 (Considine 2001), both following high intensity rainfall that occurred after fires had destroyed significant vegetation in the watershed.  The most extensive debris flow deposit is located on the lower course of Pfeiffer-Redwood Creek.  

During the storms of 1972-73, following the Molera Fire, mudflows and debris flows occurred in three of the four Big Sur River tributaries (Considine 2001).  The largest flow occurred in Pheneger Creek (not within the PBS Park boundary).  This flow inundated Big Sur Village, flowed across the Big Sur River and blocked part of Highway 1.  Mudflow activity was not observed in the drainage basin where the Molera Fire did not affect the vegetation.  Therefore, the combination of fire followed by intense storm events is the recipe for mudflows in the Big Sur River basin. The region has long been recognized as being one of the most geologically unstable areas in the state. This instability has resulted in the loss of large areas of many sites, and in a number of instances, the complete loss of sites now known only from old records. 

Cultural Setting

Human occupation in this area began at least 3,600 years ago, though evidence within the park itself is sparse, limited to two bedrock mortar sites. Two Mexican land grants to the north brought the first European settlers to the general area in the 1830s, though settlement in the vicinity of the park did not begin until the 1860s. At that time, a number of homesteaders took up property, raising stock, planting orchards and feed crops, and keeping bees. John Martin Pfeiffer, the son of one of these first pioneers, consolidated a number of claims in the Big Sur valley, and, incidental to his ranching activities, began a resort business with his wife, Florence. Approximately 700 acres of Pfeiffer's holdings were sold to the Division of Parks in 1934, forming the core of Pfeiffer Big Sur State Park. During the 1930s, the Civilian Conservation Corps was instrumental in the development of the park.  Post WWII construction within the Park has followed the original recreational design for the park and this post-war construction is seen to contribute to the Park’s Cultural Landscape.

 
Pfeiffer Big Sur State Park contains one of the largest collections of structures and campground furniture constructed during the Depression-era Civilian Conservation Corps (CCC) period found in any California State Park (Roland 1991).  The Park contains three structures that have been identified as eligible for listing on the National Register of Historic Places.  The first of these structures, the Warden's Residence is located near the entrance to the Main Camp next to the Big Sur River and was built by the CCC.  The second structure is the Recreation Hall located in the area now known as Skunk Hollow.  The CCC also built this structure.  The retention of so many of the original CCC structures and features exemplifies the fine quality of the Park Rustic architecture as developed by the CCC as well as their distinctive use of native building materials.  While time and weather have combined forces to degrade some of the campground furniture (i.e. tables, drinking fountains, and fireplaces), most are still in a good state of preservation and remain in use today.  Because of the excellent state of preservation of the CCC buildings and features as well as the preserved state of the natural environment, Pfeiffer Big Sur State Park has been identified as potentially eligible for the National Register of Historic Places as a Cultural Landscape District (Roland 1991 and Cultural Landscape Map in the appendices).


The third structures to be identified as potentially eligible for the National Register are the two Picnic Ramadas located in the South Day-Use area.  These structures were constructed in 1948 and represent the Post-War use of CCC plans to continue the use of Park Rustic Architecture.  The use of CCC patterns for the construction of both structures and picnic furniture also indicates the importance of the CCC building style and the Post-War construction enhances the already significant CCC landscape.  Together the two time periods combine to form an excellent example of an evolving Cultural Landscape.

Project Methodology

Between January 2001 through June 2001, Daniel A. Bell, Associate Archaeologist, Monica Aleman, Historian II, Philomene Smith, Associate Archaeologist, and Kelly Turner, Associate Archaeologist, Northern Service Center, California State Parks completed the prefield research and fieldwork needed to complete this Cultural Resources Management Plan.  This involved the recording, photographing, and mapping of all structures and features that appeared on the historic Park topographic survey maps from 1956.  Kathleen Davis and Kathleen Lindahl, Cultural Resource Division, California State Parks provided assistance in preparing the exhaustive DPR 523 forms for three of the historic structures.  Sources consulted included the Pfeiffer Big Sur State Park General Plan (DPR 1999), the draft 1990 Cultural Resource Inventory Report (in the appendices), the statewide inventory of CCC resources in the State Parks system (1991) and the Park Base Maps, Drawing 3529, sheets 1-15 from 1956, on file with the Planning and Environmental Design Division, California State Parks.  All previously recorded cultural resources were reviewed and records and photographs were updated and appended as necessary.  The 1956 park base maps were used to identify all man-made features that existed at that time, and an intensive effort was made to re-locate, re-visit and record all the cultural features recorded on them. All resources will be recorded on DPR 523 forms, and appropriate historic plans, maps, records, photographs, diaries, logs and other sources were collected and will be compiled into a unit data file.  The 1956 base maps were scanned, digitized and geo-referenced for use in this report, as well as for future work within the Park.  All cultural resources were evaluated for significance, using the eligibility criteria for inclusion in the National Register of Historic Places.

Between February and May 2001 Monica Aleman conducted construction investigations at the Warden's Cottage, Warden's Garage (River Room) and the Park Office (Jr. Ranger Building).  Construction investigation consisted of measuring the footprint of each structure; comparing original working drawings to built structures and creating footprint drawings and elevations where none existed.  Interior investigations consisted of paint cratering, measuring, and some demolition to assess underlying fabric.  The exteriors of the buildings were also assessed to check for original landscaping.  Historic photographs and supervisor's weekly logs were consulted to identify of the construction changes, verify existing conditions, and to aid in writing the recommendations.


The GIS and GPS files and their feature data table, the Historic Structure Site Record forms (DPR523s), the 1990 Cultural Resource Inventory, a table of Treatment Recommendations for Cultural Resources with photographs, the design Development Guidelines for future park projects, CRMP Maps, and Figures for this document appear as appendices to this report. The remaining DPR 523 forms, scanned copies of the DPR Historic Structure Inventory 750 forms from the Cultural Resources Inventory, scanned copies of the historic maps and plans and a listing of historic sources will be added to an amended appendix to this report.  Copies of these records, sources and this report are filed with the Northern Service Center and the Monterey District Office, California State Parks.

The Cultural Landscape Within Pfeiffer Big Sur State Park

The National Park Service’s Cultural Resource Management Guideline (CRMG) for historic preservation (NPS 1997) defines a Cultural Landscape as a “geographic area including both cultural and natural resources and the wildlife and domestic animals therein, associated with a historic event, activity, or person or exhibiting other cultural or aesthetic values.”  The four types of Cultural Landscapes include:

· Historic Sites

· Historic Designed Landscapes

· Historic Vernacular Landscapes

· Ethnographic Landscapes

Portions of Big Sur State Park fall most easily into the Historic Designed Landscape category.  According to the CRMG historic landscapes are “…composed of a number of character-defining features which individually or collectively contribute to the landscape’s physical appearance as the features have evolved over time.”  Historic Designed Landscapes may be associated with a significant trend in landscape architecture, such as the CCC’s use of natural materials in natural surroundings following the Park Rustic architectural tradition. The CRMG states that in addition to vegetation and topography, Cultural Landscapes can include water features, circulation features, such as roads and trails, buildings, and furnishings, such as benches and lighting. 


The Landscape boundaries were determined using several criteria.  First the original CCC design for the park as a whole was considered.  The 1920s and 1930s were a time for families to take to the road in their automobiles.  Highway 1 and all its bridges were finished in the early 1930s, allowing regular vehicular access into the Park.  All parts of the CCC Park design for Pfeiffer allowed for automobile access using roads, bridges and fords.  Thus the roads were an important connecting feature of the various developed areas such as Wayland Camp, South Camp and the Group Camps A and B.  There was even a dirt road and a ford providing access to the Boy Scout Camp area.  The recommended historic roads and trails survey should identify the remaining historic roads and trails and therefore probably modify the existing Cultural Landscape boundary map.


The second criterion used was the presence of remaining historic features within the Park.  Areas with a high concentration of CCC-era features contribute to the integrity of the Cultural Landscape, such as the Main Camp and Day Use areas particularly.  The distribution of Post-CCC features was included in this criterion since the function of the newer features followed that of the earlier CCC-era features.

A third criterion considered continuity of function within the various use areas in the Park.  Although Wayland Camp has few remaining historic features the use of the area for car camping has remained since its design.  

The Cultural Landscape map has preliminary boundaries delineated according to these criteria.  The map will likely be modified in the future after the roads and trails study has been completed and after the HSRs for the Lodge complex have been completed.  Further revisions to the map will occur following formal study of the Lodge cabin areas, to be included in an amended appendix.  Although most of the original cabins have been replaced, portions of the historic cabins have been incorporated into the existing structures.  The map will likely also change after the State Historic Preservation Officer has been formally consulted as to the potential eligibility of the Pfeiffer Big Sur State Park Cultural Landscape for the National and State Registers of Historic Places.  This formal consultation should follow a determination of the landscape's integrity and the integrity of the natural and cultural features within it.  Although the river and the redwood groves are still present, many of the campground furnishings and some of the major recreational features (such as the swimming pool and dance floor) have been removed.

The Cultural Landscape within Big Sur State Park exemplifies the construction designs and methods of the Civilian Conservation Corps (CCC), a work program begun by an act of Congress in 1933 during the Roosevelt administration.  The program was designed to alleviate the homelessness, idleness and unemployment among young men during the Great Depression of the early 1930s while at the same time working to conserve our nation’s natural resources.

According to the Cultural Resources Inventory (Davis et. al. 1990), the CCC labor force was directed mainly towards federal lands and projects, but some were assigned to develop newly purchased State Park properties.  Many States were motivated to quickly purchase lands for parks since the CCC program could provide the labor for developing them.  Some property owners offered land to the state during the mid-1930s, stipulating that the property be developed into recreational areas.  Pfeiffer Big Sur State Park was acquired during this period.

According to the Cultural Resources Inventory (Davis et. al. 1990), 

“A 1936 description of the ideal State Park illustrates both the natural suitability of Pfeiffer Redwood State Park's environmental setting and the values that controlled its development:

The ideal state park has several hundred or several thousand acres, the majority of which are left untouched to preserve scenic beauty in its natural state, and a comparatively small part given to intensive human use. The only work in the large undisturbed tracts is the construction of simple, unobtrusive trails and occasional trailside shelters; the cutting of fire breaks; the control of erosion, flood, and plant disease, insect pest control, and the clean‑up of underbrush fire hazards. In the developed sections, called service areas, there are public campgrounds with individual tent clearings, parking plots, and outdoor fireplaces, picnic tables with benches, fireplaces and provision for shelter, communities of cabins rentable overnight or for vacation, a recreation lodge, concession building, bathhouse and boathouse (if water is available), and water and sanitary systems to serve all areas facilities, and structures.  A well‑planned state park may be used by thousands year after year, and yet keep its natural beauty unharmed (Dearborn 1936:280).”

The original CCC landscape within Pfeiffer Big Sur State Park included many of the features mentioned above.  The CCC design for the valley floor included several developed areas for public recreation.  They added individual and group picnic/BBQ areas, individual and group camping areas, two outdoor campfire/stage locations, a swimming pool with a waterfall outlet, a public dance floor in a tree-ringed glade, cabin rentals, a lodge and concessions, parking areas, as well as water and sanitary systems.  The plan also included trails into the backcountry and roads for access across the valley floor.  Many of these features are preserved in the park today and are used in the same way they were originally designed.

Recommended Treatments of Cultural Landscapes

The Secretary of Interior’s Preservation Brief for Protecting Cultural Landscapes (Birnbaum 1994) recommends four Primary Treatments and several specific Treatment Methods for preserving and managing Cultural Landscapes.  The four Primary Treatments include:

· Preservation of existing historic fabric or resources

· Rehabilitation of existing historic fabric or resources

· Restoration of historic fabric or resources

· Reconstruction of missing historic structures, objects or historic fabric.  

Selecting a Primary Treatment for the landscape establishes an overall historic preservation approach, as well as a philosophical framework from which to operate.  Selection of the appropriate Treatment can be based on the interpretation objectives for the landscape as a whole, the periods of significance, the integrity of the landscape and its character-defining features, and the existing condition of these individual features.  

This Pfeiffer Big Sur State Park Cultural Resources Management Plan and the Cultural Resources Inventory report should be used together to guide and direct preserving the integrity of this Cultural Landscape and the individual cultural resources within it.  Although the four Primary Treatment types have been listed above, the Treatment Methods associated with each type differ.  

Preservation is the least invasive treatment of a cultural resource.  The methods for preserving resources might include protection, stabilization, repair and/or cyclical maintenance.

Rehabilitation of a historic resource can accommodate modern alterations or additions without altering the historic features or materials.  Methods of rehabilitation might include preserving historic fabric, additions and alterations that are consistent with the existing historic fabric and construction and repairs to the fabric using historically accurate materials and construction methods.  

Restoration attempts to recapture the appearance of a property or individual feature, based on historic research and documentation.  Restoration methods can include the removal of modern or non-character defining features within the landscape and/or the construction of missing or lost features and materials.  These methods all need to be substantiated by extensive historic research and thorough documentation of existing conditions before reconstruction work is attempted.

Reconstruction is used when all or part of a Cultural Landscape is missing.  Reconstruction can depict missing buildings, structures, objects, and even the entire landscape.  This treatment type is used only after significant levels of historic research and documentation have been completed, to avoid presenting an inaccurate depiction of historic information or events. 

Recommended Treatment of Pfeiffer Big Sur’s Cultural Landscape

The general treatment that is recommended for Pfeiffer Big Sur State Park’s Cultural Landscape is Preservation of the existing historic structures and objects and character-defining features.  These elements include buildings, structures and objects such as picnic tables and retaining walls, linear features such as roads and trails, and landscaping features such as plantings of non-native trees.  Active preservation of these features can include stabilization, repair and cyclical maintenance.  Some additional features within the landscape have been identified for restoration (such as the dance floor), and some have been recommended for rehabilitation (such as the swimming pool’s waterfall bridge).

The table of Treatment Recommendations for Cultural Resources in the appendix of this plan lists all the inventoried historic (and some non-historic) buildings, structures and objects within the Park.  The location for each feature is noted on the attached historic 1956 survey maps.  Listings of the documentary photographs of each feature are also included in the appendix.  The table contains location and descriptive information on each of the recorded features.  Dimensions have been included for one example of each feature type and for non-standard objects or structures.  The information for each recorded feature also includes an assessment of its existing condition, the recommended Primary Treatment, the recommended Treatment Method, and then the specific tasks that should be performed to carry out the treatment recommendations.  This table should be used as a management tool for the routine and cyclical maintenance of Park resources and as a guide and resource for the development of future projects within the Park.

· The historic significance of the CCC facilities should also be interpreted in order to advance public education and awareness of their important relationship with a major historical period of our country.

The following four specific recommendations have been taken from the Cultural Resources Inventory (Davis et. al. 1990) and address some of the specific structures and areas within and associated with the Park

Historic Structures

All structures attributable to the Civilian Conservation Corps should be maintained as examples of rustic architecture and as physical evidence of this significant period in national, state, and park system history. When possible, these structures should be used as a device to interpret the CCC and its role in the development of Pfeiffer Big Sur State Park to the public. If it is deemed appropriate to restore any of these structures to its CCC‑period appearance and condition, a detailed historic structure report should be prepared in advance, to assure an accurate restoration.

CCC Features

Relatively few examples of CCC picnic furniture remain within the park. Those examples that do exist should be maintained both for visitor use and as an interpretive device for this important period in the nation's history and the development of the park. Efforts to build new picnic furniture in this general style should be encouraged. The Weyland Bridge should be restored at the earliest opportunity (although in a way showing that it is a reconstruction) and historically appropriate parking barriers should be placed in front of the Day Use Picnic Area retaining walls to prevent damage from cars backing into the walls.

History

Extensive detailed information can be found in Weekly Supervisor's Logs, dating back to 1937, which are housed at the District Office. Similarly, original maps and blueprints of park development provide a wealth of information on the history of Pfeiffer Big Sur State Park. These are also kept in the maintenance office at the park. Should time allow, extensive research could be done with these primary documents. Their potential value is such that copies should be made and archived at a public facility. Candidates for housing the map collection include the Map Room at the McHenry Library, UC Santa Cruz, and the National Archives in San Bruno.

Homestead Cabin

Local preservationists and park staff have expended considerable effort to maintain John Pfeiffer's homestead cabin and keep it from falling victim to vandals and the elements. To advance future restoration efforts, a detailed Historic Structure Report should be prepared for the cabin. No further modifications should be made to the building until such analysis has been completed.

The following three structure recommendations were prepared by the project’s Historian and include information from Park staff on their preferences for future building uses.

Warden’s Residence

Park staff would like to preserve the Warden’s Cottage and use part of the building as the location for a cultural resources interpretive exhibit.  The interpretive area would be limited to the two rooms located on the west end of the building, the living room and the dinette.  In the dinette the changes are as follows; the east wall, which once featured a walk-through into the kitchen, has been sealed up with the glass-fronted cabinets having been removed.  The original board and batten construction which starts above the shelf-rail, situated 2ft 6½ in. off the floor, has had a framework of nominal 2”x 4” fitted over the wall and a layer of sheet rock has been laid over the 2”x 4” frame.  

During an investigation of this room, two layers of wallpaper were discovered under the top layer of paint.  It is recommended that the layer of gypsum board and the 2”x4” framework supporting the layer of gypsum be removed and the three original walls restored in the dinette area.  Because the park staff intends to utilize only the dinette and the living room, it is advised that they leave in place the wall that was built to close off the dinette from the kitchen.  However, should the park at some time decide to utilize the entire structure, the walk-through could be restored and the kitchen restored and used for interpretive purposes.  

The front room of the Cottage is largely intact with five significant changes made to the room.  Indoor/outdoor carpeting and vinyl tile was laid over the original hardwood floors, paint was applied to the walls which originally were left natural, track lighting was installed on the ceiling beams, a pocket door was installed in the wall separating the dinette from the living room, and a wood stove insert was placed in the original stone fireplace.  

Of these changes it is recommended that the carpeting and tile be removed and the original wood floors restored.  The wood stove insert should be removed from the stone fireplace and the stonework needs to be cleaned.  It would be impractical to remove the paint from the entire room but a good cleaning is recommended and, if possible, the paint should return to the color of the first coat applied.  The track lighting was a necessity as the original fixture was incapable of producing enough light to work efficiently by.  In an interpretive setting the track lighting would be a beneficial addition for displays so it is recommended that the track lighting be retained and utilized with the condition that the tracks be painted the same color that the room is to be.  

The installation of the pocket door caused the removal and replacement of several of the original pieces of tongue and groove and it is not likely that the original pieces still exist to facilitate the removal of the pocket door.  Most likely this doorway never had an actual door so the pocket door could be retained.  If possible, the door should have its presence masked by the application of a strip of wood placed over the door's edge, as it is retracted into the pocket, thus giving the impression of a solid door frame.  However, if the doorway proves to be too narrow to allow handicapped access, the pocket door would need to be removed at the time of the doorway widening.

Since only the front two rooms and possibly the kitchen have been identified for interpretive uses, the rest of the structure was only assessed and studied on its condition and to give recommendations on how to preserve the remaining historic elements of the structure.  Both of the bedrooms have suffered the same fate as the dinette in that they have had much of their original wall fabric either covered or replaced by gypsum.  According to historic photos both of the bedrooms in the Warden’s Residence were paneled in varnished redwood board and batten.  There was no paint evident on the walls of either room when the structure was originally finished and first occupied.  

At the present there are no known old photographs of the hallway, bathroom, or service porch of the Warden’s Cottage.  Preservation recommendations for the remaining rooms consist mainly of removing all unnecessary materials out of the rooms and performing basic cleaning such as sweeping and vacuuming. Walls covered with the same framework and gypsum board found in the dinette should be restored to their original appearance if the park feels it would be beneficial to do so.  Use of the entire Warden’s Residence for interpretive purposes is in question, however, due to the nature of the construction of the building's interior.  The use of single-wall construction means that making the main hallway handicap accessible, off which the kitchen, bathroom, and both bedrooms are accessed, would be difficult, if not impossible.  Attempting to make the hall accessible would significantly alter the historic fabric of the interior, possibly affecting the integrity of the building.  Trying to use the service porch entrance as a possible access point would also be impossible, as alterations to the porch would severely alter the historic appearance of the porch and permanently alter the historic fabric.

Warden's Garage/River Room

The River Room was originally the garage for the Warden’s Cottage.  The garage to the Warden’s Cottage was built roughly after the completion of the Cottage in 1936.  It is single-story, wood frame structure, with a composite shingle roof and a footprint measuring roughly 28ft 2 in. long (west to east) and 15 ft. 2 in. wide (north to south).  The structure was originally a two-bay garage with an attached 10 ft. by 20-ft. storage area for wood, and the roof was comprised of wood shakes with a 12” exposure.  The wood storage area is accessible from either an exterior door at the rear (northwest corner) of the structure or through a door on an interior wall built to separate the woodshed from the garage.  Originally the floors were dirt and the ceiling was open through the beams.  

The exterior of the building had river rock facing on the concrete foundation and was board and batten above the rock on the portion of the building containing the space for the cars.  On the portion of the building containing the wood storage area the exterior wall above the river rock wall was made up of 3in. to 5-in. sapling poles placed vertically with 12-in. logs at both the northwest and southwest corners of the building.  The garage underwent extensive remodeling in 1981 or 1982.  

There was a need for a facility in which to hold training classes and park staff and a Carpenter Training class from the State Parks training center at Asilomar, California undertook the task of remodeling the structure.  The garage was originally built on a concrete pad, at least known to be under the garage portion of the building, and although the members of the carpenter training class were responsible for laying down the present floor above the original concrete floor; park staff completed the remainder of the work over several weekends.  There was no recording of this work as it was being done, nor was there any recordation of the building before work began as there were no regulations for this type of work being performed on historic structures in the State Parks.  The remodeling primarily impacted the interior of the building.  

On the exterior of the building the two large garage doors were removed and board and batten was used to blend in with the original fabric on the north and east exterior walls.  The interior wall, which separated the woodshed from the garage, was removed, as were the saplings that formed the exterior walls, and board and batten was applied in its place.  A plywood floor was laid and a gypsum board drop ceiling was installed.  Fluorescent fixtures were installed in the ceiling; aluminum casement windows were installed to replace the existing windows on all elevations.  The windows were trimmed both on the exterior and the interior.  The interior walls were covered with gypsum board over 2”x 4” studs.  There was a modular, sink and cabinet, unit affixed to the east wall and a mortar and brick hearth was built centrally on the north wall for a wood stove.

Because of the significance of this structure to the overall Cultural Landscape any plans to alter the structure must be reviewed and approved by the cultural resource manager involved in the project (i.e. Historian, Archaeologist, and Historical Architect).

Jr. Ranger Station

The Monterey District planners would like to move the Park Office/Jr. Ranger Building further down the access road leading to Skunk Hollow and utilize it as a check-in station for overnight campers.  Changing the Park Office back to a check-in station actually takes the Park Office back to one of its original uses.  In the 1940s, right after its initial rebuild, the Park Office was used as administrative offices, but with the remodel of the CCC Recreation Hall into office space the Park Office was used primarily as the check-in station for overnight campers.  This relocation coincides with a plan to move all registration facilities further back from the main road to alleviate traffic backing up onto Highway 1 during the peak seasons in the summer.  

While the site location of the Park Office dates back to 1940, the building itself was modified at a later date and no longer retains its full and complete integrity.  It is also important to move the Park Office from its present location, as the area is prone to flooding in times of heavy rainfall.  Therefore, there should be no problem with moving the structure provided the following criteria are met. When the Park Office was placed at this location, it was rebuilt on site.  The building currently rests on a concrete pad and there is concern as to whether or not the building can actually be moved without causing significant damage to the resource.  When the time comes to study the building for the move, a structural engineer should be brought in to assess the building's ability to withstand being raised and moved.  A report must be submitted as to the findings and a copy of this report should be supplied to the Monterey District and to the Northern Service Center.

There must be further site investigation as to whether or not there is a significant historical landscape surrounding the Park Office and whether or not the Park Office contributes to that landscape.  Also, the new Park Office location must also be assessed for its potential significance as a historic landscape.  If it is found that this newly proposed site is part of a historic landscape and that the relocated Park Office would compromise the integrity of the landscape, then a new location must be selected and assessed for its potential significance as a historic landscape.  Only when a site with no potential significance whatsoever is found can the Park Office be moved.     

After the relocation, reconstruction work on the Park Office should include restoring the porch that originally stretched across the front northwestern portion of the entrance façade.  Further research should be conducted to determine if photographs and plans exist.  If no plans exist then new working drawings must be drawn up by a qualified restoration architect to recreate, as closely as possible, the original front porch. 

These plans must be reviewed and approved by the Cultural Resource Manager overseeing the project and the same person, on site, should monitor the rebuilding of the front porch.

In the building's interior the restoration should include reintroduction of original, or in-kind, fabrics.  The facility will also need to be made handicap accessible.  Doorways should be assessed to see if they comply with handicap accessible width requirements.   

While the Park Office has served different purposes over the last 61 years, in the last twenty it has suffered the most damage.  Floods have, through the years, caused damage to its exterior and on occasion managed to work their way inside.  Occupation however, kept the Park Office from suffering too much disrepair.  When the park administration staff moved to the modified Recreation Hall in Skunk Hollow the Park Office was essentially used only seasonally for the Junior Ranger Program in the summertime.  It is this sporadic use that has contributed to its deterioration.  It is in the best interests of the building to utilize it on a regular basis.  Occupation of the structure would mean someone in the facility to pay attention to the minor problems that can so often turn into major problems.  The moving of the Park Office would provide a check-in station that is a part of park and CCC history.  A few interpretation panels profiling the building techniques of the CCC could be provided for the outside of the building, thus taking advantage of the ability to further educate the public on the CCC's role in Pfeiffer Big Sur State Park history.

Suggestions for Further Study

This section provides suggestions for further studies within the Park to better understand and therefore protect the cultural resources.  The sections include suggestions for Park-wide studies and activities, studies that address the pre-historic and historic archaeological sites and potential sites and additional studies to better define, evaluate and eventually nominate the Pfeiffer Big Sur State Park Cultural Landscape to the National Register of Historic Places. 

Unit-wide Suggestions

· Prepare Historic Structure Reports (HSR) for all potentially significant structures, especially the Lodge complex, prior to any alteration, restoration, remodeling, adaptive reuse, non‑use or reconstruction.

· An historic roads and trails study should be performed to identify the remaining historic roads and trails within the park and evaluate their significance as contributing features to the overall Historic Designed Cultural Landscape.

· Conduct an inventory and 5024 review prior to any activity that would affect potentially significant cultural properties; including roads, trails, non-native plants, historic native plantings, buildings, structures and features.

· Prepare HABS or HAER study at the appropriate level for any significant building or structure that will be substantially altered.

· Continue the inventory for this park unit to include the backcountry regions, new acquisitions, and other areas not covered by this or the 1990 Cultural Resources Inventory.

· Finalize the draft Cultural Resource Inventory of Pfeiffer Big Sur State Park (Davis et. al. 1990), adding scanned copies of the original photographs and preparing the missing illustrations.

· Actively maintain and repair all historic structures, which is essential to their preservation.  All repairs must be undertaken in accordance with the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties to maintain and protect the historic fabric and retain their historic integrity.

· Consult the attached Development Guidelines when any new development is being considered within the park.  These guidelines have been drawn from a National Park Service historic landscape study and management plan for a CCC Cultural Landscape at Crater Lake National Park (Gilbert and Luxenberg 1990). Both authors, an Historical Landscape Architect and an Architectural Historian, have extensive experience identifying, evaluating and preparing management plans for several types of Cultural Landscapes (Ahern 1992).

Suggestions for Prehistoric Archaeological Sites (see Prehistoric Resources map in appendices)

The history of sediment deposition and scouring within the flood plain in the park is poorly known.  Significant prehistoric archaeological sites may lie buried under sediment.  A geologic study should be undertaken to describe the sediment deposition/scouring history within the last 10,000 years.

CA-MNT-1329

This site has been known for many years and is commonly referred to as Indian Rock. It was recommended for interpretation as early as 1946. Its location near the upper end of the main campground makes it a likely candidate for such a purpose. Subsurface archaeological testing to determine if significant archaeological deposits are present should precede any ground-disturbing activities within 100 meters of this site.  If significant deposits are present, activities should be designed to avoid impacts to the resources.

CA-MNT-1385

This site is located in the stream channel near the mouth of the Big Sur Gorge. Though close to a walking trail, it is more removed from regular observation and is a less promising candidate for interpretation. Subsurface archaeological testing to determine if significant archaeological deposits are present should precede any ground-disturbing activities within 100 meters of this site.  If significant deposits are present, activities should be designed to avoid impacts to the resources.

Suggestions for Historic Archaeological Sites

CA-MNT-1330H

No activities should occur in this location.  It should be left in its natural condition and treated as an abandoned cemetery.

CA-MNT-1408H

It is not known if significant archaeological deposits still exist at this site.  A lone rose bush and a retaining wall are the only surface indications of this site.  Before any ground-disturbing activities occur, additional historical research and archaeological testing is necessary to confirm the presence of significant archaeological deposits.  If significant deposits are identified, no ground-disturbing activities should be allowed at this site.

In spite of the absence of surface remains, buried features may exist at any of the locations below. No ground-disturbing activities should occur at these sites until additional historical research and archaeological testing is conducted to confirm the presence of significant archaeological deposits.  If significant archaeological deposits are present then no ground-disturbing activities should be allowed on these sites.  These sites may also possess Cultural Landscape values not associated with the CCC-era values.  Future Park development activities should consider these values before project implementation.

· Gibson Homestead

· Camp Content

· Pfeiffer Ranch and Resort Complex

· Sawmill Site

· Clark House

· Frank Post Home Site

· Worrell Homestead

CCC Cultural Landscape

· Conduct a historic landscape study to define the period of significance, determine the integrity of the contributing elements and evaluate the significance of the landscape as a whole.

· Pursue a nomination of the park as a Historic Designed Landscape to the National Register of Historic Places and evaluate its potential as a Traditional Cultural Property.

Inventory Tables

This section provides an overview description of the cultural resources identified in Pfeiffer Big Sur State Park.  More detailed information and a prehistoric/historic overview are provided in the Pfeiffer Big Sur State Park General Plan (DPR 1999) and the draft Cultural Resource Inventory of Pfeiffer Big Sur State Park (Davis et. al. 1990).  Maps showing the locations of all the potentially significant cultural resources, all prehistoric sites and the proposed boundaries of the Cultural Landscape appear in the appendix.

It is important to remember that all cultural resources are considered to be potentially eligible for inclusion in the National or California Register of Historic Places until fully evaluated.  If new sites are located during ground disturbing work, all work must stop until a State Archaeologist is notified and has evaluated the resource.  Additionally, resources may be considered significant if they meet regional or local criteria for importance, or are eligible for, or listed as a California or National Historic Landmark, or have been recorded by the Historic American Buildings Survey (HABS) or the Historic American Engineering Record (HAER).

Table of Prehistoric Resources

Two prehistoric archaeological sites are known to exist in Pfeiffer Big Sur State Park (see map in appendices).  Both are bedrock mortar sites in close proximity to the Big Sur River.  Use of this stretch of river may have always been sporadic, featuring small temporary camps that left little archaeological trace.  Previous deposits may also have been washed away or covered by flood events in the past.

RESOURCE
DESCRIPTION

CA-MNT-1329
This site is situated on a rock outcrop on the south bank of the river.  No midden is evident.  It is possible that formerly associated midden deposits have been covered by alluvium.  No studies have been conducted to determine if associated archaeological deposits exist along the adjacent stream banks.  This site must be considered potentially significant under Criterion D (Potential to yield important information about the prehistory of the region), until further studies are conducted



CA-MNT-1385


This site is situated in the river channel, a little below the Big Sur River gorge.  It is possible that formerly associated midden deposits have been scoured by water flow.  No studies have been conducted to determine if associated archaeological deposits exist along the adjacent stream banks.  This site must be considered potentially significant under Criterion D (Potential to yield important information about the prehistory of the region), until further studies are conducted



Table of Historic Resources


This table contains sites that represent several time periods in addition to the CCC era, each contributing to the CCC Historic Landscape through association. 

TIME PERIOD
RESOURCE
DESCRIPTION

Pre-CCC Era
CA-MNT-1330H


This is the reputed location of the Innocente Cemetery and is located just down slope from the Homestead Cabin.  The Innocente Cemetery is significant in that it is associated with important persons and events in the Big Sur area.



Pre-CCC
CA-MNT-1408H


This site comprises the scant remains of the Davis-Innocente Homestead.  It is located on what is now known as the Log Deck.  The only surface indications of this site are a lone historic rose bush and a rock retaining wall.  The Davis-Innocente Homestead is potentially significant in that it is associated with important persons and events in the Big Sur area.  It also may contain archaeological deposits that may yield important information about the area’s past.  Additional historical research and archaeological testing is necessary to confirm the presence of significant archaeological deposits.


Pre-CCC
Homestead Cabin
This one‑room, single story, 230‑square foot wooden structure with a wood shake roof is located on the north side of the Big Sur River, above the Skunk Hollow employee residences and adjacent to the Innocente Cemetery. John Pfeiffer built the cabin probably around 1893, to satisfy the requirements of a homestead entry patent that he filed in 1898. Though he owned adjoining property with a dwelling already built, Pfeiffer actually occupied this cabin, probably until the time of his marriage to Florence Swetnam Brown in 1902. After that time, the structure served as housing for hired help, or was rented or loaned to tenants. It has been extensively refurbished in recent years, though much original fabric remains (Davis et. al. 1990).


Pre-CCC
Flause House
Although named for a later owner, this one‑story, four‑room (660 square foot) vacation residence was built in the late 1920s or early 1930s by George and Alice Harper. The Harpers purchased the property in 1928 from Charles Post and resold it in 1948 to their daughter and son‑in‑law, Gladys and Magnus‑Flause. The property became a difficult‑to‑manage in-holding in Pfeiffer Big Sur State Park and eventually was acquired by the Department through condemnation in 1960. The cabin lies on a wooded gravel‑bar in a major bend in the Big Sur River and is surrounded by the river at times of flood. The building is currently used as park employee housing (Davis et. al. 1990).



Pre-CCC
Stables Cottage: Residence #13 Employee's Cottage
This structure was built before the park was acquired in 1934, presumably by John and Florence Pfeiffer, although no exact construction date has thus far been established. It is possible that the building originally served as a Pfeiffer resort cabin. Originally located near the first highway bridge over the Big Sur River, it was moved in 1937 to its present site. It was then used as housing for the caretaker of the nearby stables, which were built in 1937 and operated until 1954. Currently used as park employee housing, the building is 35' long by 29' wide (679 square foot). A 1937 drawing shows an L‑shaped, three‑room floor plan, to which two additional rooms have been appended. The structure has been extensively remodeled inside and has had several additions. The exterior walls are board and batten and the roof is covered with redwood shakes (Davis et. al. 1990).



Pre-CCC
Concession Residence #4 and Garage


Like the stables cottage, this structure was moved from its original location. It had been situated south of the Big Sur River, just north of the highway maintenance yard. Its construction date is unknown, although it predates the 1934 acquisition of the park. Plans for moving the structure, dated January 13, 1937, refer to it as an "overnight cabin," implying that it had been part of the Pfeiffer Ranch Resort complex. It was moved that year to the southwest corner of the Orchard Area. Subsequent plans identify the building as a "custodian's residence" (December 1937), and later, simply as an "employee residence" (February 1939). It was designated concession employee housing in 1969 (Davis et. al. 1990).

The structure measures 57 by 32 ft (1015 square foot) and has an irregularly shaped footprint. It is a single‑story, clapboardsided, gable‑roofed building. A stone fireplace and chimney was added to the west facade in 1939. The north end of the house terminates in an enclosed porch. A wing extends to the east, and a relatively recent addition extends south from the central section (Davis et. al. 1990).

Associated with the Concession Residence #4, this garage is 20'5" long and 18'6" wide (381 square foot). The south end has been transformed into a small guest bedroom, with only the north half still used as a garage. The building has clapboard siding and a wood‑shingled gable roof. It was built sometime between December 1937 and February 1939, according to historic blueprints (Davis et. al. 1990).



Pre-CCC
Paint Shed


This structure was originally a Pfeiffer Ranch Resort cabin, located near the current Big Sur Lodge. It was moved to its current position at the south end of the lodge cabin complex in 1936. First used for employee housing, it was later converted to a storage shed. It is now being used as a maintenance office for the concession operation.  The structure measures 16'3" long by 10'4" wide (167 square foot), and comprises three interior rooms and a porch. It has wood shingle siding and a wood‑shingled gable roof. A small lean‑to is attached to the west end: a grape‑stake fence surrounds the structure and its small lot (Davis et. al. 1990).



Pre-CCC
Landscaping


There is a linear alignment of 86 non-native Monterey Cypress trees lining an early park boundary, possibly associated with the original location of the Homestead Cabin.



CCC Era
CCC Cultural Landscape District
From 1933 to 1942 the Civilian Conservation Corps (CCC) played an important role in creating many recreational facilities in state, national, county, and municipal parks across the nation.  In California, Pfeiffer Big Sur State Park was one of fifty parks in which the CCC built recreational facilities over a nine-year span.  The CCC Cultural Landscape District is comprised of numerous man-made and natural features, some of which were actually constructed after WWII and dismantling of the CCC.  All of the CCC Era resources below are contributing features to this landscape district.  Additionally, many of the post CCC campground-related features have significance since their construction continues an evolutionary pattern of the landscape.  A map showing the proposed boundaries of the Cultural Landscape appears in the appendix.  

The CCC was created in response to the economic conditions brought on by the Great Depression.  President Franklin D. Roosevelt felt that the young men of the era needed direction and training to prepare them for whatever future lay ahead of them.  There was also a dire need for these young men to earn money so they could help out family who had struggled since the Depression began.  Roosevelt had always been a supporter of the environment and realized that the damage already done to the environment needed to be alleviated and preservation and conservation needed to take center stage.  The CCC crews fanned out across the United States and were responsible for thousands of structures, many of which still exist today.  

The Park Rustic architectural movement stemmed originally from the Arts and Crafts movement.  The National Park Service put it into practice during the first decades of the twentieth century.  One of the most important tenets of Park Rustic design called for buildings and structures to harmonize with their environment. This was achieved through the use of native materials as building components and sought to take into consideration both size and scale when building any structure.  

In the early years of the Civilian Conservation Corps, the Park Rustic ideas were enthusiastically embraced and the structures built using these ideas remain some of the most beautiful and pleasing of all park structures.  At the beginning of WWII, the CCC was disbanded.  Immediately after the war, the park continued to build campground structures in a manner that generally mimicked the CCC style.  These are considered as following an evolutionary pattern of design and use and also are considered significant contributors to the Cultural Landscape.  Features include the two picnic Ramadas, concrete-type picnic table/benches and board and batten style restrooms. 



CCC
Warden’s Residence: River Room


Warden’s Residence and Garage/River Room: The Warden’s Cottage and its associated Garage were two of many structures that the CCC was responsible for building.  Construction on the Warden’s Cottage started in September of 1934 and the structure was completed and occupied by April of 1936.  The associated garage (now referred to as the River Room) was built in 1936 shortly after the Cottage was completed.  The only written documentation for the Warden’s Cottage and garage is the working drawings that were produced for each structure.  For the Warden’s Cottage, research has turned up three drawings; the elevation drawings, a floor plan, and a detail drawing of the north wall of the kitchen showing the placement of the sink and surrounding cupboards.  For the garage, research has only been able to produce elevations for the structure.  The Warden’s Cottage was occupied as a residence until the late 1960’s.  Shortly thereafter the staff began using the Cottage as the Park Administration Office and referred to it as such.  

The park staff would like to see the converted garage, now called the River Room and used as a park staff office, turned into an interpretive site for the natural resource of the park.  In the Warden’s Cottage the suggested use is for interpreting the historic structures and facilities in the park and office space for the interpretive staff.  The Warden’s Residence and the associated garage (River Room) are significant resources not only within Pfeiffer Big Sur State Park, but statewide and nationwide. They were constructed by men of the CCC and were built in the Park Rustic tradition. The Warden’s Residence retains a great deal of its integrity and the garage, though modified, still retains much of its original interior fabric.  These buildings are key features in the CCC Cultural Landscape.



CCC
Jr. Ranger Building
Jr. Ranger Building: The Park Office/Junior Ranger Station, located just past the Big Sur Lodge off of the access road to Skunk Hollow is not an original CCC structure.  It is however, built from sections of an original CCC structure, the original contact station which was dismantled in the fall of 1939 and reconstructed in the Spring of 1940 as three residences in the Orchard Area and the Park Office.  The Park Office reconstruction was completed in April of 1940 and immediately utilized by the park staff as the check-in station for overnight campers.  The original Park Office had a front porch that stretched approximately half the width of the front façade of the structure but the roofline was the same as exists today.  Interior assessments show that the building is in reasonable condition with signs of benign neglect which is to be expected as the building is now only utilized during the summer months for the Park’s Junior Ranger Program.  

Monterey District and the park staff would like the old Park Office moved further down the access road leading to Skunk Hollow and placed near the proposed new entrance station and once again utilized as a check-in station for campers.

The Park Office/Junior Ranger Station was erected in spring 1940 out of components of a larger CCC structure.  Originally, the Park Office had a small porch that ran half of the length of the façade.  Today the same roofline remains but the porch is gone and the building has been extended outward to enlarge the interior space.  Much of the historic fabric remains and the building is in good condition overall.  Though it has been moved and modified, the historic fabric of this building is a significant contributing feature to the CCC Cultural Landscape.



CCC
Concession Residence #5 and garage
This 1036‑square foot structure has an irregular footprint, board and batten exterior walls, and a low‑pitched, wood‑shingled gable roof. Built in 1936 as a contact station, it was initially located at the entrance of the park, on the site of the Big Sur Post Office. It contained an office, a bedroom and bathroom, and two public restrooms accessible from the exterior of the building. In the winter of 1939/40, it was dismantled, moved to the southwest corner of the Orchard Area, and remodeled as a residence. The office became a living room, and the space that had previously contained the public restrooms was converted to a kitchen. Much of the interior and exterior detail of the park rustic‑style contact station was retained, including knotty‑pine paneling and hand‑wrought iron door latches. The structure is currently used as housing for the concessionaire.  A recent addition containing a bedroom and bath is located on the east side of the original house (Davis et. al. 1990).  The garage has not yet been recorded.



CCC
Comfort Station #2


This one‑story stone cobble restroom with a hipped roof has a T-shaped footprint. The structure measures 26'3" by 13'6," with a 15'6" by 6'6" ell containing a storeroom. Located at the northern end of the River bend Area, it was built in 1938 as a support structure for the nearby swimming pool. It retains a number of the original features, including the stone wing‑walls adjacent to the entrances (Davis et. al. 1990).



CCC
Comfort Station #3


A 25'6" by 16' (408 square foot), one‑story, wooden, cottage‑style comfort station is located in the group picnic area that constitutes the western portion of the Riverbend Area. It is covered with board and batten siding and has a woodshingled, hipped roof. It was built in 1941 (Davis et. al. 1990).



CCC
Combination Building #3


Completed in 1937, this 450 square foot building is located in the main campground in Sawmill Flat. It houses a toilet, shower and laundry facility for park visitors. The laundry, situated in a 12' by 14' ell on the south side, retains original sinks and fold‑down ironing boards set in cupboards. The structure has a wood‑shingled gable roof and vertical board siding; it is scheduled to be remodeled in 19901941 (Davis et. al. 1990).



CCC
Comfort Station #7


This 350 square foot stone comfort station was built in the South Campground in 1941. It has massive stone walls, a hipped roof and high fenestration. The window openings are screened but unglazed. Stone wing walls help conceal the entrances to the lavatories1941 (Davis et. al. 1990).



CCC
Lower Power House


This 14'5" by 18' (261 square foot), single‑story, flat‑roofed, concrete building is located north of the Big Sur River, on the road leading to the shop complex. The front (west) elevation is faced with large river cobbles and contains massive wooden doors with hand‑wrought iron hinges. Built about 1938 by the CCC, the structure was set into the hillside and housed the park's first electrical generator. Though local lore has it that the structure was used to store black powder for the construction of Highway 1, there is no historical documentation to support this notion. The building appears as "fire tool storage" on park maps dating to 1947 and 1952, was used as "concession storage" by 1965, and is used to store park signs (Davis et. al 1990).



CCC
Upper Power House
This 31'6" by 19' (600 square foot), one‑and‑a‑half story, concrete and stone building is located in the Shop Complex. It has two pairs of large doors and one small door on the front facade and louvered windows on the rear. These were designed to vent the fumes from the large generators that formerly occupied the main room of the building. Built in 1939 by the CCC, this was the second power house constructed to supply electricity to the park. It is currently used to store gasoline and oil (Davis et. al 1990).



CCC
Nature Center


Immediately to the north of the Lower PowerHouse is a 615‑square foot, gable‑roofed, board and batten structure that was built sometime between 1937 and 1940. Its original function is unknown, although it may have served as some type of storage facility. By 1965, it was being used for concession storage. It has been extensively refurbished over the past year to serve as a nature/interpretive center for park visitors. Though this has entailed the installation of all new interior finishes, windows and doors, much of the exterior fabric is original (Davis et. al 1990).



CCC
Recreation Hall


This single story structure measures 91'6" long by 20'5" wide, with a 20'5" by 14'9" rear (east) wing containing a kitchen and bathroom. Built in 1933 as the recreation hall for CCC Camp S.P. 12, it is located on the east side of the Riverbend Area. It has a low‑pitched, wood‑shingled gable roof and shiplap exterior siding. There is a large stone fireplace on the east wall. The southern half of the structure was used as an auditorium, and was divided from the northern half by a stage that bisected the building. Behind the stage was a room for props and general storage. At one point during the camp's history, the stage was set up as a canteen. (Davis et. al 1990).  Currently the building is used as the ranger office.



CCC
Triplex


This building is located just south of the Recreation Hall. It is a one‑story, shiplap‑sided structure, 98'4" long by 20'5" wide (2000 square foot). Built by the CCC in 1933 as a barracks to house the camp's enrollees, it was converted in 1946 to three apartment units. Considerable modification has been done inside to modernize the building. It is currently occupied by seasonal employees (Davis et. al 1990).



CCC
Duplex


This single‑story, shiplap‑sided, gable‑roofed structure is located adjacent to the Triplex in the Skunk Hollow employee residence area. Like the Triplex, it was built as a barracks for CCC Camp S.P. 12, and was converted to two units of park employee housing in 1946. An associated garage was also constructed in 1946. The Duplex measures 98'6" long by 20'5" wide (Davis et. al 1990).



CCC
Tin Shed


This building lies behind the Multi‑Agency Facility adjacent to Highway 1. It is a one‑story, gable‑roofed shed with a bi‑level concrete foundation and corrugated metal siding. The roof is also of corrugated metal. There is one double door on the north side and a raised concrete bench on the south. It is not known when this storage building was constructed, although park maps indicate that it was present by 1955 (Davis et. al 1990).



CCC
Baseball Field Garage


This former garage, now a storage building, is located in the Riverbend Area east of the Triplex. It was associated with a house known locally as the "Infirmary," which may have housed the CCC camp's physician. The latter structure was demolished in the 1970s. The garage measures 32'4" long by 20'611 wide (762 square foot). It is sided with boards and battens and has a wood‑shingled gable roof. The original doorways were located on the east side of the structure, but a dike constructed in 1977 in anticipation of flooding effectively blocked these entrances, and new ones were added to the west wall. This building is part of the CCC camp complex built in 1933 (Davis et. al 1990).



CCC
Incinerator


It is not known exactly when this tall brick structure was constructed.  Historic Park plans from 1937 show its location and later 1948 and 1950 plans apparently detail its construction.  It is determined to be potentially significant until further studies of its construction history can be made (see Figure 10.1).



CCC
Campground/ Picnic Furniture


The CCC campgrounds, picnic areas, furnishings and facilities at Pfeiffer Big Sur State Park were sited and built to minimize intrusion on the landscape and to enhance the user's appreciation and enjoyment of nature. Emphasis was placed on the use of natural, unfinished, local materials and great attention was paid to scale and siting so that built features were unobtrusive in the natural surroundings. This use of local native materials to construct works at the "proper" scale, and the avoidance of rigid straight lines and over sophistication, especially in details and finish, attempted to impart the feeling that the materials had been fashioned by pioneer craftsmen using a limited inventory of hand tools. These are some of the principles and characteristics that define the Park Rustic architectural style (Davis et. al. 1990).

Nowhere in the park were these standards as strongly rendered and ubiquitous as in the stone masonry campground furnishings consisting of camp stoves, picnic tables, and drinking fountains. The fabrication of these furnishings utilized at‑hand elements of rustic construction: native rock, pebbly river‑run sand for mortar, logs, and rough‑hewn wood planks. Although standardized to meet functional requirements, the furnishings possess elements of individuality and exhibit a high level of hand-craftsmanship. The use of horizontal coursing, the breaking up of vertical joints, the use of carefully selected stones of varying sizes, and the employment of mortar as a design element permit conformance to basic design models, and also provide for a wide variation in appearance resulting from handcrafting and individual workmanship (Davis et. al. 1990).



CCC
Picnic Tables
Two types of permanent picnic tables once existed at Pfeiffer Big Sur State Park. The earlier type was constructed entirely of redwood, with a massive central support and an octagonal slab top. These tables were surrounded by eight stools, each resembling a smaller version of the table, with a central support and octagonal seat. From the 1956 park map (Drawing No. 3529), it appears that 63 of these tables were located in Main Camp, with 13 more located at the upper end of the Weyland Camp. None survive today (Davis et. al. 1990).

A second table type was introduced to the park in 1937, and was known as the "Steckel" type, after its designer. These were fabricated as a one‑piece bench and table set. Concrete slabs acted as foundations for stone pedestal bases that supported the table top and bench seats. The pedestals were executed in stone masonry that was broader at the base and tapered slightly toward the top. The redwood table top and bench planks were fastened in place with countersunk nuts and bolts (Davis et. al. 1990) (see Figure 10.2).

The table tops measure 7' long by 2'10‑I/2" wide, and consist of three planks, each 11‑1/4" wide by 2‑3/4" thick, spaced sufficiently apart to prevent debris from building up between the joints. The bench planks measure 11‑1/4" wide and 2‑1/2" thick. The tops of the benches are 1'6‑1/2" high and the table tops are set at a height of 2'4‑3/4" above grade. These tables are considered as significant contributing features to the CCC Cultural Landscape (Davis et. al. 1990).

Of a total of 112 masonry‑based rectangular picnic tables built in the park, 25 [39 complete or partial tables were identified in this survey] remain today. They have largely been supplanted by movable wooden tables. The desirability of a fixed versus a movable furnishing was a debatable consideration: a fixed table would prevent the park users from dragging them from place to place and destroying the campsite groundcover, but a movable table could be shifted by park staff to let heavily used campsite areas recover from intensive use.  At Pfeiffer Big Sur State Park the latter consideration may not have been deemed important, since the riparian woods and groves of oak and redwood provided a dense overstory that precluded the type of groundcover prevalent in more open locales (Davis et. al. 1990).



CCC
Stoves


Camp stoves differ from simple fireplaces in that their fireboxes are located at a convenient height for cooking and rely on a chimney for draft. They were intended to be used by campsite occupants for days or even weeks at a time  Davis et. al. 1990).

A total of 174 single‑hearth camp stoves were built in the park by the CCC; of these, three remain. The unit also contained a number of double‑hearth camp stoves, but all have been demolished. The three surviving single‑hearth stoves are built to the same specifications. Each measures 5'4" long, 3'4" wide, 4'14" to the top of the chimney, and 2'3" to the cooking surface. The interior of the firebox is lined with firebrick, increasing the durability of the stove and providing a level surface for mounting the grill and steel plate. The solid cooking surface at the rear helps prevent blackening of the chimney, provides for a better draft, and makes it possible to cook in wet weather (Davis et. al. 1990).

The draft was controlled by means of a movable damper mounted on the chimney at the opening of the flue and by a steel door mounted on the front of the firebox. The door had a handle mounted horizontally at the top, was hinged to the firebox at the bottom, and swung down to permit fuel loading and draft adjustment. The dampers are missing from two of the three camp stoves, and no firebox doors survive (Davis et. al. 1990).



CCC
Barbeques


The Group Picnic Area 3 barbecue, built in 1936, is the largest feature of this type in the park. It is 14' long, 7' wide, and 2’2” high, with 14” -thick walls. The inside of the lower half is lined with firebrick, the upper with rough concrete. The exterior is faced with irregular blocks of roughly cut stone. Three heavy steel mesh grills are set into a frame that can be raised or lowered by means of an elaborate wheel‑operated, chain drive system. This feature is the only CCC‑built barbecue remaining in the park: it has a unique and well‑designed operating system (added at a later date), and is in relatively good condition (Davis et. al. 1990).



CCC
Drinking Fountains


The basic requirements of a drinking fountain are to provide potable water safeguarded against contamination, as well as a means of‑draining the drip and overflow. Fountains should be widely distributed throughout the park, so that it is easier for the visitor to use them than to seek natural sources not treated against pollution. Once these conditions are met, a great deal of individual variation is possible, and such was the case at Pfeiffer Big Sur State Park. Of the three most common stone masonry campground furnishings (camp stoves, picnic tables, and fountains), the last clearly are the least standardized and show the greatest degree of unique detail and embellishment (Davis et. al. 1990).

In addition to differences in dimensions, some incorporate roughly hewn stone with the natural river cobbles, some have stone masonry foundation pads, and one has a retaining wall. Fountains may include details such as the addition of a child's step, a catch basin, a hose bib, or a pot shelf.  Of the ten fountains built by the CCC, eight [the current survey found 9 original fountains, 2 replica and 1 yet to be evaluated] are left  (Davis et. al. 1990).



CCC
Other Campground Furnishings


Most campsites had a wooden food storage locker. Earlier cupboards had gable roofs: later versions had a shed roof, several shelves and a latchable door, measured 3'6" by 2' and were set at a convenient height off the ground on two wood posts. A total of 171 were present in the park at the time of the 1956 survey. Any remaining were removed in 1977‑78 after the Marble Cone Fire (Wagy 2001).

Another CCC feature consisted of redwood logs set in place as barriers and guides along trails, roads, and parking spurs. They were also used for trailside seating, and trail and streamside retaining walls. The CCC also built a variety of stone masonry picnic furnishings generally associated with barbecue areas: several types of barbecues, plank top preparation and serving tables, and washbasins. Other masonry features and facilities included stone footbridges, trail steps, a pool, dams, water conveyance system, parking lot buffer walls, and streambank retaining walls. The latter features were built to blend harmoniously with their surroundings (Davis et. al. 1990).

Various of the CCC footbridges, dams and fords exist within the park as well as many rock and redwood retaining walls, some log benches and trail steps.



CCC
Outdoor Theaters


The outdoor theater in Group Camp A originally consisted of a raised, packed earth stage bordered by logs, and approximately 13 rows of arched bench seats off a central aisle, set in a grove of bay laurel and second growth redwood. All of the original benches have been replaced. There are now six rows of seats south of the aisle and eight rows to the north. The original stage is basically intact and measures 20' square. The rear of the stage is bordered by a log, but a low border of mortared cobbles has been added to the front and sides, terminating midstage on the north and south sides. Additionally, a mortared stone fire ring has been added near the west corner of the stage, between it and the end of the first row of benches (Davis et. al. 1990).

Features of the outdoor theater in the Day Use Area, built in 1938‑39, included a raised stage, two campfire areas each with a row of semicircular seats, raised tiers of rustic log seats, stone masonry steps and stone lined paths, and the two stone fountains noted above. The two large fire rings with surrounding seats are no longer present, and the original rustic seating was replaced in 1978 with benches constructed of boards set atop cylindrical concrete supports. The oval stage measures 30' by 35', is about 2' above grade, and has an unmortared river stone proscenium, cut through on each side by a set of dressed stone steps bordered by‑a row of boulders mortared in place. The original wooden stage surface has been replaced with or covered by concrete (Davis et. al. 1990).

Stone‑lined paths lead backstage: one leads to a small shed built after the CCC period. This building is a board and batten structure with a shed roof, a Dutch door on the east facade, and windows on the north and south. It gives the impression that it may have been originally designed as a snackbar. Other recent modifications to the area include a concrete sidewalk flanked by low electrical lights; a wooden lectern to the east of the stage; an upright rectangular framework built at the forward edge of the stage, designed to support a projection screen; and two wooden projector stands, set in the center aisle of the seating‑area. These modifications support the theater's current function as a place for ranger‑led campfire programs (Davis et. al. 1990).



CCC
Dance Floor


In 1940, a dance floor was built opposite the east parking lot on the north side of the day use road. It measured 40' by 50', was slightly above grade, and was situated in a clearing in the woods surrounded by sycamore, bay laurel, and redwood trees. No [wood] remains of the dance floor are visible today, but the clearing is still evident at the head of the Nature Trail.  Archaeological deposits may exist at this site (Davis et. al. 1990).  The anchor points for the wooden flooring are still visible as linear scars on the trees surrounding the clearing.



CCC
Ball Field


Picnic features in this area consisted of three camp stove and picnic table sets and three plank serving tables. All but the three picnic tables have been removed (Davis et. al. 1990).

A recent stone masonry drinking fountain has been built near the current baseball diamond, at a site formerly occupied by a fire hydrant. It differs from the CCC fountains in that the cobbles are smaller, flatter, and laid more regularly, the mortar is whiter and less crude, and the drain is made of PVC pipe: nevertheless, it, too, represents a commendable attempt to replicate the style of its predecessors (Davis et. al. 1990).



CCC
Swimming Pool and Associated Features


Located at the north end of the Group Picnic Area, the swimming pool was built in 1938. It was concrete lined, but retained a natural appearance, with sand beaches and an island wooded with oak and sycamore trees. Its maximum dimensions were 400 ft by 180 ft: maximum depth was 9 ft. It was fed by a rock‑lined ditch leading to a wider, rock‑lined canal that branched into two concrete‑lined canals surrounding the island on the west and south. A concrete dam diverted river water into the pool via the ditch. Outflow was through a stone masonry spillway with a high waterfall at the northeast end of the pool. Below this spillway was a sand and gravel flood plain draining back into the river (Davis et. al. 1990).

The west side of the pool had a spring board, poolside ladder, and log benches. Two sets of stone masonry steps provided easy access from the sand beach at the north end of the pool, over the wooded slope, and down to the beach area at the river. Near the opening of the spillway, there was a good vantagepoint for viewing the waterfall (Davis et. al. 1990).

Three footbridges were constructed as part of the pool system: one, an arched masonry structure, crossed the spillway just above the waterfall; the second, an arched masonry bridge, was built at the point where the narrow water supply ditch opened to the wider canal; and the third, crossing the ditch approximately 140 ft to the south, was a plank footbridge on a log foundation. The latter two bridges were located west of the southernmost group barbecue area (Group Picnic 3). The only features remaining of this extensive system are the masonry spillway with associated footbridge, the masonry footbridge west of Group Picnic 3, and faint traces of the now‑backfilled ditch and canal system. As noted above; the pool and water supply system were filled during the late 1960s and early 1970s with the demolished camp stoves, picnic tables, and other CCC features that were scrapped, and with the mud and debris that flowed into the park during the winter following the 1972 Molera fire (Davis et. al. 1990).



CCC
Footbridges


The remains of a footbridge referred to as the "Old Crossing" (Davis et. al. 1990) were found on the south bank of the Big Sur River, 80 ft upstream of the northeast corner of the River Room. The abutment consists of a 30" high retaining wall, with the foundation for the bridge at the apex. The west wing of the wall extends 22 ft southeasterly to a redwood tree. The east wall extends for 26 ft and also terminates at a redwood. The wall is made of large unmortared stream boulders and cobbles and is mostly overgrown, but appears to be about three courses high. The bridge foundation consists of a row of five bricks on a base of three courses of cobbles and boulders set in pebbly, river‑run mortar. The bricks are oversized, measuring 12" by 8" by 411, and are spaced 2" apart. The central part of each end brick has been cut to form a socket that would retain a 4x4" post. The overall dimensions of the foundation are 5'2" long by 2' wide (Davis et. al. 1990).

This structure is mentioned in the Development Outline for Pfeiffer Redwood State Park (Davis et. al. 1990), which recommends eliminating the ford crossing, obliterating the road, and building a guard rail and toe wall in the vicinity of the proposed bridge. Thus, this structure dates to 1937 or later (Davis et. al. 1990).

Figures 10.3 and 10.4 show the completed Wayland Camp footbridge (Sh13/1), the piers, the rebar anchored into the rock and one post of which still exist.



CCC
Weyland Bridge


A vehicle bridge to provide access to the Weyland Campground was begun by the CCC in 1936 and completed in 1937. Massive stone abutments and a deck of redwood logs made this structure a prime example of the rustic aesthetic. The abutments and central support pier are still in place today, although the bridge decking was removed in 1977 following the Marble cone fire to lessen the hazard of anticipated flooding and mudslides. This bridge access was particularly important prior to the acquisition of land on the south side of the Big Sur River connecting the South Campground with Weyland Camp (Davis et. al. 1990).



CCC
Retaining Walls


Both the east (Parking Lot 15) and west (Parking Lot 50) lots have long low stone masonry buffer walls with openings for entry to the picnic grounds. The walls are oriented roughly parallel to the day use road.

The west parking lot wall is 180' long, 2'6" high, and has a 12' long, northerly running ell at the west end. It has three openings, one central, and one toward each end. The east parking lot buffer wall is 150' long, 2' high, and has a single central opening. The east end of the wall has a short north running ell, which terminates in a low stone masonry pillar. A similar pillar, approximately 8-ft to the north, provided controllable vehicle access to the picnic grounds. Another pillar originally stood a few feet to the north, between the service access road and the day use road, but it is no longer present (Davis et. al. 1990). Figure 10.5 shows CCC laborers completing one of the parking lots.

An extremely overgrown retaining wall is located on the south bank of the Big Sur River, 120 yards (110 meters) upstream (east) of the northeast corner of the River Room, between the Warden's Residence buildings and the main campground. The wall is set into the streambank and is built of 8 courses of dry‑laid stream boulders. It is 30' long and 8' high. Another retaining wall, also almost completely hidden by vegetation, is located at the south end of Main Camp near Campsite 40. It is about 15' long, 8' high, and is made of 8 courses of unmortared stream boulders and large cobbles (Davis et. al. 1990).

The L‑shaped retaining wall in Group Camp A, built to stabilize the hillside, is made of mortared cobbles and boulders and measures 50' N‑S and 30' E‑W. The latter wing terminates in a northeasterly bend. At its highest point in the southwest corner, the wall stands 5' high, and is a uniform 1'6" thick. The end of a 1/2" iron pipe protrudes low in the west wall: it was part of a system that supplied oil to the kitchen building  (Davis et. al. 1990).

A set of five dressed stone steps is set into the terrace slope just below the northeast corner of the kitchen slab. The stone is mortared and the steps are 5' wide by 6" deep. They are situated at the end of a boulder‑lined path that probably connected the administration building with the kitchen  (Davis et. al. 1990).

Numerous other dry-laid and mortared retaining walls exist throughout the park, the Group Picnic areas and along several of the trails and roads.



CCC
Roads and Trails


No formal studies have as yet been conducted on the roads and trails within the park.  It is well documented that the CCC constructed many of the existing roads and most of the existing trails.  Comparisons of the existing roads to the roads on the 1956 map show that some sections have been removed.  Recent informal trail surveys have identified many existing rock and log retaining wall features, most, if not all, probably dating to the CCC era. Any further modifications to the existing roads or trails should be prefaced with a roads and trails survey to identify and evaluate the remaining historic alignments.  Figures 10.6 and 10.7 show the CCC constructing the Mount Manuel Trail in 1934 and building one of the campground roads in 1936.



Post-CCC Era
Ramadas


These ramadas continue the style and type of structures built by the CCC.  They are considered contributing elements to the CCC Cultural Landscape.  A redwood Ramada is located within Group Picnic Area 1, built by the Division of Beaches and Parks in 1948. Though not a CCC feature, this structure is a fine example of the rustic aesthetic and carries on the architectural traditions established by the CCC. It measures 77’5" long‑by 20'8" wide and has a hipped roof with log rafters, supported by 12‑inch diameter log posts. The Ramada shelters a series of concrete based picnic tables (Davis et. al. 1990).

Like Group Picnic Area 1 (North), Group Picnic Area 3 (South) has a rustic redwood Ramada, also built in 1948. As noted above, although not attributable to the CCC, this feature is culturally significant as a later representation of the rustic aesthetic. In addition, this complex also has a recently‑built masonry‑based serving table, similar to the one at the north Ramada (Davis et. al. 1990).



Post-CCC
Cedar Flat Dam


An abutment and footing for a dam that crossed the Big Sur River is located 220 meters downstream of the north end of Group Camp A. The top of the footing provides a low‑water foot crossing between Cedar Flat on the east bank and Liewald Flat on the west. The east abutment is a massive ell‑shaped structure of mortared boulders, 20' long by 18' wide, that contrasts with the west abutment, which was a 15' long single row of mortared boulders. The footing is made of river cobbles and boulders set in concrete and the upstream side has 6"‑square sockets for barrier posts. The dam was originally built to provide a suitable swimming area for the Boy Scouts who made heavy use of the organized Group Camp (Davis et. al. 1990).



Post-CCC
Picnic Tables


A later concrete table type is also present in the Park.  Historic plans indicate this design originates in 1955 (Drawing # 3353).  These tables have been inventoried and are considered significant contributing features to the Cultural Landscape (see Figure 10.8).



Post-CCC
Drinking Fountains
Two stone masonry fountains have been built by the Department in recent years, attesting to the popularity and functionality of the original features.  These drinking fountains are considered contributing features to the CCC Cultural Landscape.



Post-CCC
Stove


There is one low concrete stove 160 feet north of the CCC Board and Batten Ball Field restroom (Sh11/24).  This feature has been noted but not recorded and is not currently being used.  It is recommended that the feature be recorded and evaluated before any work is done on it.  Plans for this stove design date to 1956 (Drawing # 3389)



Post-CCC
Structures
Most of the concrete block restrooms recorded in this survey as modern were likely designed in the mid 1950s by the DPR architect Robert F. Uhte.  Although the significance of these structures was not addressed by this study, the third phase of a statewide survey is currently in progress through the Southern Service Center, conducted by the Past Forward archaeological contract firm (Allen 1998).  The survey will address the significance of these and other post-war Park designed and built structures (see Figure 10.9).  These structures should be considered potentially significant until a final determination has been made through the statewide survey in progress.



Conclusions

California State Parks offer a unique opportunity to study, preserve and interpret a variety of Cultural Resource sites and Pfeiffer Big Sur State Park is an excellent example of how time periods blend together to form a cohesive and evolving Cultural Landscape. The primary intent of this study was to provide an inventory and analysis of all the historic and prehistoric resources within the primary area of recreational use.  Even though the Cultural Landscape falls mainly within the primary area of recreational use it is understood that the work that needs to be done to keep the park functioning must continue.  However, how that work is done within the culturally sensitive areas will need extra care and consideration so that impacts are kept at a minimum.  In hopes of aiding this process the Treatment Recommendations for Cultural Resources has been developed with recommendations and treatment specifications built into the process.  This has been done to give project managers an understanding of how a resource should be treated.  It does not take the place of the cultural manager and all projects must still follow the accepted CEQA and PRC 5024 process before work is begun.


The preservation of sites in Pfeiffer Big Sur has involved numerous people over the years and has created an environment that is pleasing to both visitors and employees of the park. The general treatment that has been developed for Pfeiffer Big Sur State Park’s Cultural Landscape was done in order to preserve not just the resources that need to be protected but also to preserve the general ambiance of the park itself.  It is with this in mind that the current inventory has been created and suggestions made for future research needs.
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